

Report to the Police, Fire and Crime Panel – 29th October 2018 Staffordshire Police Medium Term Financial Strategy – Update Report

Report of the Staffordshire Commissioner

1. Introduction

- 1.1 The attached report updates the Panel on progress to develop the Staffordshire Commissioner's (SC) Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) for 2019/20 onwards.
- 1.2 This report identifies the sector specific and organisational challenges for Staffordshire Police, and the Staffordshire Commissioner's office.

2. Recommendation

2.1 That the Panel note and comment on the contents of the attached report and the planned timescale for development during 2018/19.

3. Background

3.1 The attached report provides background information and the detail of future finances as available and known at this time. An updated MTFS that provides the assurance necessary for future years' expenditure and funding will be produced for the Panel's meeting in January 2019.

Matthew Ellis Staffordshire Commissioner – Police, Fire and Rescue, Crime

Contact Officer: Jane Heppel Telephone: 01785 232449 Email: jane.heppel@staffordshire-pfcc.pnn.gov.uk



Medium Term Financial Strategy Update Report 2018/19 – 2021/22

Jane Heppel Director of Finance

CONTENTS

Contents

1	Purpose of Report:	. 4
2	Conclusion:	.4
3	The Budget Process:	. 5
4	The National Picture:	. 5
5	the Local Picture:	. 6
6	Assumptions and Sensitivity Analysis:	. 7
7	Gap Analysis:	. 8
8	Risks and Sensitivity Analysis:	10
9	Opportunities:	11
10	Reserves:	12
11	Capital Funding:	13

1 PURPOSE OF REPORT:

- 1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide an update on the delivery of the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) for the period to 2021/22.
- 1.2 A high level timetable is included in this report, to lay out the necessary steps and key meetings to communicate the 2019/20 budgeting process and updated MTFS.
- 1.3 The MTFS presented to the Police and Crime Panel in February 2018 identified a funding gap of £13m over the MTFS period *before* funding options were considered. At present, following a further review and examination of all factors, *including* a review of the precept, the projected funding gap is now expected to be c£15M based on current available information. This allows for the unexpected and unwelcome news regarding pension contributions which makes up the bulk of the worsening of that position.
- 1.4 With the ongoing budget process, then the MTFS will be updated regularly as relevant information becomes available, up until the confirmation of the budget proposal by the Commissioner (and endorsement of the precept by the Police, Fire and Crime Panel), in January 2019.

2 CONCLUSION:

- 2.1 The Commissioner has not changed his priorities for targeting funding at visible policing which contributes positively to a feeling of public safety. However in an era of rising demand, unfunded although well-deserved nationally agreed pay awards, the withdrawal of some other partners from key preventative work and inflationary pressures, he recognises that Staffordshire Police must be supported to respond in the most effective way they operationally see fit. This will necessitate hard decisions being made in this and potentially future years.
- 2.2 The Commissioner believes that this report highlights all material risks and opportunities available to the Force and to his team in the Commissioner's office and intends to bring a more detailed report to the Panel in a month's time to allow them to assess the impact of those difficult decisions.
- 2.3 The highlighted risks and issues in this report are significant, however the MTFS does indicate that a sustainable financial position will be achieved over the MTFS period and the Commissioner is fully committed to taking the necessary difficult decisions to achieve this outcome.
- 2.4 The transformation programme and joint working with Fire and Rescue services offers an opportunity to realise significant financial benefits through more streamlined working and collaborative arrangements which will be key to delivering robust finances.

3 THE BUDGET PROCESS:

3.1 As in previous years financial and budget planning work is undertaken with the Force to detail the pressures and potential savings at the same time as continuing to horizon scan and monitor the external environment.

Table	1:	Budget	Timetable
-------	----	--------	-----------

Budget Timetable	Task				
August – November 2018	Budget Preparation – Commissioner/Force				
November 2018	Police Fire and Crime Panel pre-consultation				
December 2018	Provisional Grant Settlement				
December 2018 – January 2019	Budget Consultation				
January 2019	Police Fire and Crime Panel Budget 2019/20/MTFS Report				

4 THE NATIONAL PICTURE:

- 4.1 Policing is in a period of austerity like the rest of the public sector. Whilst central government has actually maintained its overall budget for policing in real terms since 2015-16, an increasing proportion has been reallocated to fund national priorities and counter-terrorism, leaving less for local policing. Funding for national priorities increased by nearly 57% between 2015-16 and 2018-19, whereas funding for routine police activities reduced by 9% over the same period. This represents a significant shift from local policing to national priorities.
- 4.2 Individual Police Forces experience that reduction differently depending on the degree of their reliance on government grant. Commissioners raise on average 36% of their funding from council tax precepts on the councils in their areas. In Staffordshire 38% of funding is raised from council tax precept or freeze grant, meaning the area is 62% reliant on government grant. This compares with Surrey who receives just 43% of their funding from central government grants, and Northumbria for whom government grant makes up 81% of their funding.
- 4.3 The effect of all this on police performance is not easy to discern, not least because of the changing nature of crime over the last decade, with overall crime levels falling but big increases in recorded knife crime and child sexual exploitation and abuse.
- 4.4 In 2017, the Police Inspectorate rated 31 of the 43 police forces as outstanding or good (up from 28 in 2016), but found that a minority were being "overwhelmed" by some aspects of policing.
- 4.5 The report quotes some specific examples:
 - the number of arrests fell from 17 per 1,000 population to 14 per 1,000 between 2014-15 and 2016-17 (18%) in Staffordshire this was a fall from 18.6 in 2014-15 to 17.2 in 2016/17, just 7.5%
 - less proactive work is being carried out; there are fewer breathalyser tests, fixed penalty notices and drug related convictions which is also the case in Staffordshire
 - satisfaction levels among victims to the response they received from the police have reduced, also the case in Staffordshire where satisfaction is at 81%.

5 THE LOCAL PICTURE:

- 5.1 In May 2018 the Force prepared its first Force Management Statement (FMS) as required by HMICFRS.
- 5.2 This gives the Chief Constable and Force the opportunity to reflect on its challenges and future direction and link these with its financial expectations. The FMS welcomed the Commissioner's decision to use the precept flexibility to raise council tax for 2018/19 and showed how this would enable the target operating model to change to refocus on CID and Neighbourhood Policing. An extra 50 detectives moved into CID and 144 officers and 20 staff are moving into Neighbourhood roles. This is being developed alongside a co-location approach so that policing staff, where safe and appropriate to do so, are co-located with partner agencies, as has been effective already in some areas of business, such as in the MASH.
- 5.3 The FMS shows that 84,000 crimes were recorded in the 12 months to March 2018 and in 2017 nearly 1.5m calls came into the force. Of the calls answered, callers were however talking on the line for an average of 50% longer than the previous year. This is after implementing a series of measures to ensure that the calls which stay on the line and receive attention are really intended for Police and not for other public services.
- 5.4 The Force has also changed the way it interacts with the public through introducing resolution centres which allow response officers to focus on the most serious cases, by dealing with less serious cases in a different way. This 'channel shift' will continue as the Force optimises the use of virtual tools such as apps 'Smart Alert' and 'KAsh Dash'. Channel shift is likely to be controversial for some depending on age, the places people live, and their ability to adapt, but whilst acknowledging the digital divide further investment in alternative and more flexible engagement channels is essential.
- 5.5 Looking ahead, the Force sees increasing demand from the exploitation of vulnerable people, including child sexual abuse and modern day slavery, and anticipates emerging risk areas including the risk to a growing elderly population. The challenge for the Force will be to respond to all these issues in true collaboration with partners, whilst managing within tight resource constraints.
- 5.6 Offences which have a cyber-enabled element will also be an increasing area of business. The force's cyber strategy and assessment of digital / cyber capability from the front line to the dedicated resources such as the digital intelligence team and regional Technical Intelligence Development Unit (TIDU) are being reviewed.
- 5.7 Improvements to Information and Communication Technology (ICT) remain at the centre of plans to transform the Force and are the key component of the 'modernised policing' priority in the Force's policing plan.

6 ASSUMPTIONS AND SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS:

- 6.1 All assumptions in the MTFS are subject to change however they are useful in establishing the general size of the underlying pressures in the budget.
- 6.2 The updated MTFS presented in this report has been constructed using the following assumptions:

Table 2: Assumptions

Description	2018/19 Budgeted	2019/20 Estimate	2020/21 Estimate	2021/22 Estimate
Police Officers				
Pay Award	2.0%	2.0%	2.0%	2.0%
Pension Contribution	24.2%	28.0%	33.9%	33.9%
Police Staff				
Pay Award	2.0%	2.0%	2.0%	2.0%
Pension Contribution	15.5%	15.5%	15.5%	15.5%
Non Staff Inflation				
General (Including Rates)	2.0%	2.0%	2.0%	2.0%
Utilities - Gas/Electric	5.0%	10.0%	10.0%	10.0%
Fuel	5.0%	3.2%	3.2%	3.2%
Estates Contract	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%
IT Contract	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%
Insurances	2.0%	10.0%	10.0%	10.0%
<u>Funding</u>				
Police Funding	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%
Council Tax Base Increase	1.7%	1.3%	1.3%	1.3%
Variable Income Charges	0.0%	2.0%	2.0%	2.0%
Council Tax Precept Increase	6.3%	6.2%	2.0%	2.0%
Savings from Fire governance change	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%
Collection Fund Surplus	792,000	633,000	507,000	507,000

- 6.3 This does not commit the Commissioner to any course of action however these assumptions must be viewed as being more likely than any others which is why they have been selected.
- 6.4 We have cross referenced our assumptions on inflation with those of others and believe they are consistent.
- 6.5 The tax base forecasts are a prudent average of the past 5 years although the current and future level of housebuilding may make a significant impact in terms of the total council tax collected.

- 6.6 A proposal in relation to the funding of Police Officer Pension Contributions was made on 6th September 2018 by HMT following the review in 2016. Disappointingly the proposal passes a significant cost and risk to the Commissioner, with no promise of long term funding or support. This is a significant risk to the budgets in this and future years and we are currently lobbying government alongside the NPCC and APCC to ask HMT to review their approach.
- 6.7 The gap estimate assumes that the Commissioner will be able to meet the investments which he promised in setting the precept and budget for the Force in February 2018.

7 GAP ANALYSIS:

- 7.1 There is more uncertainty in the sector than usual at this point in the year, particularly as the pension's announcement referenced at 6.6 was a major change to the two year deal agreed in December 2017, to allow precept flexibility. In return for this the Policing sector as a whole committed to and has delivered £300m of procurement savings and clear reserves strategies for every Force.
- 7.2 Taking the assumptions from Table 2 and working them through against known budget pressures and commitments from the last MTFS there is a sizeable pressure in the coming years:

	2018/19	Change	2019/20	Change	2020/21	Change	2021/22
	Actual	between years	Proposed	between years	Estimate	between years	Estimate
Home Office Grants	(104,936)	0	(104,936)	0	(104,936)	0	(104,936)
Council Tax Freeze Grant	(11,964)	0	(11,964)	0	(11,964)	0	(11,964)
Council Tax Precept	(66,548)	(4,834)	(71,382)	(2,206)	(73,587)	(2,408)	(75,996)
EXPECTED INCOME	(183,448)	(4,834)	(188,282)	(2,206)	(190,487)	(2,408)	(192,896)
Pay Award and Inflation		4,686		4,816		5,344	
Pensions Discount Rate (net)		2,598		3,997		0	
Base Pressures		1,112		2,806		1,688	
Planned Investment in Officers		1,660		0			
FORECAST COST	188,482	10,056	198,538	11,620	210,158	7,032	210,790
INCOME LESS COST	5,035	5,222	10,257	9,414	19,671	4,623	17,894
Planned Cbn to/ (Use of) Reserves / Receipts	(3,034)	3,998	964	341	1,304	(554)	750
BUDGET GAP BEFORE SAVINGS PLANS	185,448	9,220	11,220	9,755	20,976	4,069	18,645
Force Savings Plans	(2,000)	(4,400)	(6,400)	0	(6,400)	0	(6,400)
Planned reduction in capital programme		(326)	(326)	(801)	(1,128)	(1,243)	(2,371)
UNBRIDGED BUDGET GAP	183,448	4,494	4,494	8,953	13,447	2,826	9,873

Table 3: Gap Analysis

7.3 This table shows that:

- The gross budget gap is currently of £9.220m in 2019/20. Through reducing the capital programme and with transformational and other savings plans in hand, there remains a gap for the Force and Commissioner to jointly address of £4.494m (approx. 2.4% of gross spend), mainly but not solely arising as a result of the recent pension contribution changes proposed by government.
- In the following year there are further cost rises as a result of pension changes and capital investment and with a lower planned Council Tax rise of 1.99%; this

assumption in respect of Council Tax allied with the overall Home Office police grant (assumed to be cash flat throughout the MTFS period) are wholly dependent on the outcome of the 2019 Spending Review. With these assumptions, this puts a further pressure of \pounds 9.414m on the budget taking the total gap to \pounds 13.447m.

- 7.4 This financial position could significantly change pending further government announcements and other circumstances changing, hence the sensitivity analysis at Table 5. For example if government grant were to go up by 3% that would raise £3.1m in each year, or, if the government were to fund the police pensions strain that would relieve the pressure by £2.7m in year 1 and £6.6m in year 2. If house building in Staffordshire increases, an additional 1,000 Band D homes in Staffordshire brings in £0.205m per annum in increased council tax.
- 7.5 To the extent that any of the costs currently in the baseline of the Force, or the Commissioner's office, can be directed towards delivering ongoing savings or transformation, and in particular the joint working with Fire, then it may be possible to bridge some of the gap with transformation funding.
- 7.6 The size of the gap also depends on completing the exercise to establish the stretches within the cost base for Policing. However the change in budget requirement since the last MTFS shows that the gap has emerged not from increases in policing costs per se but due to the pensions issue referenced at 6.6 alongside the known and expected pressure from the significant investment in IT, resulting in a larger Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP).

	2019/20	2020/21
Forecast February 2018	188,336	190,814
Current Forecast	192,138	203,758
Change	3,802	12,944
Difference:		
Pensions discount rate	2,598	6,595
Planned contribution to reserves	(786)	1,304
MRP and interest	(62)	2,806
Base Pressures	1,050	0
Other	1,003	2,239
CHANGE IN BUDGET REQUIREMENT	3,802	12,944

 Table 4: Budget Requirement Change from last MTFS

Table 5: Sensitivity Analysis on Assumptions

Cost Area	Change	(£ +/-) 000
Police Pay	1%	756
PCSO/Police Staff	1%	375
Utilities	1%	41
Fuel	1%	21
Supplies & Services	1%	137
Police Pension Contribution	1%	596
Police Core Grant Funding	1%	1,049
Precept	£1	346
Council Tax base	1%	707

7.7 It is important to note that there is a range of outcomes for each assumption and that it is difficult to propose a clear way forward before the December settlement for 2019/20 and the later Spending Review outcomes are known.

8 RISKS AND SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS:

- 8.1 The precept flexibility for 2018/19 and 2019/20 was conditional on all police forces showing real progress on procurement savings and reserves strategies, and the Home Office view on whether or not this has been delivered remains a risk to future plans.
- 8.2 National schemes e.g. ESN, Single Online Home are being promoted and supported via the Police Transition Fund, Police ICT Company and other central sources of funding. However the purchase of kit and any additional costs which need to be picked up after the Airwave contract is re-let at the end of 2018 will need to be met within the existing funding envelope. Home Office charges and NPAS charges are also being reviewed and this may create a change in the formula which changes cost independently of attempts to manage usage. This comes alongside the need to upgrade the old IT estate and explore means of paying for it which is more sustainable than borrowing.
- 8.3 Demand mix and volumes in future are likely to be effected by some predictable events such as the Commonwealth Games but also in some unpredictable ways e.g. developments at Mill Green and the new rail hub creating a change in the pattern of demand for policing.
- 8.4 Demand in terms of reported crime continues to increase although this plan assumes that demand can continue to be met by prioritising a response to threat, harm and violence.
- 8.5 Other local partners are withdrawing from preventative work and support for vulnerable children and adults. A LGIU report published in September 2018 notes that "Perhaps surprisingly, only 24% of incidents responded to in 2016-17 were crime related. A further 12% were to incidents of anti-social behaviour, but the remaining 64% were non-crime related, the police often attending when other agencies were unable to do so."
- 8.6 A significant number of policing responsibilities for organised crime have transferred to the ROCU but this service is significantly supported by grant funding which will drop out in 2021/22 and 2022/23. West Midlands (WM) Police who lead in this area for the wider WM area are preparing a MTFS for the service which should enable a clearer determination of the impact on Staffordshire's expenditure, funding and capabilities.
- 8.7 Brexit may impact on the international facilities and support available to policing in the UK. This is particularly important in the context of intelligence and crime that emanates from outside the UK.
- 8.8 The partnership contracts in Estates, IT and other areas of operational delivery e.g. Custody, naturally expose the Commissioner and Force to risks that we are not able to drive out value for money on those contracts. Whilst this is managed, it will result in financial risks that have to be considered e.g. increases in national living wage.
- 8.9 Nationally policing twice moved to 'critical' in response to terrorist activity in 2017; Staffordshire, alongside other forces found it challenging to maintain normal operational activity alongside the heightened policing presence required as part of 'Operation Temperer'. Armed Policing has seen an uplift in Authorised Firearms Officers (AFOs).

8.10 Sensitivity analysis on the risks

 Table 6: Sensitivity Analysis on Risks

Risks	Change	(£ +/-) 000
ROCU Contribution	1%	35
Major Contracted Areas	1%	102
NPAS Contribution	1%	3
Incident such as terror threat (2017)	1%	1,883

9 OPPORTUNITIES:

9.1 The bringing together of Fire and Police governance through the office of the Staffordshire Commissioner allows for an acceleration and deepening of the opportunities for savings in enabling services from closer working. As the governance arrangements only changed on 1st August then clear plans are not yet in place to deliver all the detail around the future but the expectation remains to deliver on the savings plans in the Outline Business Case.

Table 7: Governance Opportunities

	2019/20		2020	0/21	2021/22	
	Governance	Enabling Services	Governance	Enabling Services	Governance	Enabling Services
Police	134	318	134	1,211	134	1,622
Fire	66	70	66	265	66	355
TOTAL	201	388	201	1,476	201	1,977

- 9.2 Over the three years to 2021/22 the governance changes give policing the opportunity to save c£3m which would significantly help in meeting the gap.
- 9.3 There is a significant opportunity by joining together the Estates for both Police and Fire. Work is progressing although total financial gains are yet to be fully quantified and worked through the asset management strategies and contract management arrangements of both bodies.
- 9.4 The implementation of the Niche records management system in Staffordshire Police will offer the opportunity to join up with the Minerva user group and develop internal and external opportunities.
- 9.5 The Commissioner has also taken the opportunity to be the only Commissioner in the country that we know of, to be bidding to be part of the Business rates Pilot scheme for retaining business rates locally in 2019/20. If successful, this will bring £200,000 additional funding into policing in Staffordshire.
- 9.6 The Force is looking at ways of reducing its mileage and use of vehicles in order to reduce the cost of buying, storing, running and fuelling the police fleet. The investment in the new fleet management system made in 2017/18 will enable the information to be captured to ensure this is done in a targeted and safe way.
- 9.7 The Force are always looking to change policing strategy to make it more cost effective and

during 2018/19 they have explored options to reduce the cost of overtime by using officers on plain time more flexibly. They intend to continue to push this opportunity into other areas in the future.

- 9.8 Developments such as Mill Green in Cannock and the rail hub offer the opportunity to request of developers that they consider future policing needs in their development proposals which can both ensure that development is sensitive to reducing policing requirements and provide funding for meeting any unavoidably increased demand.
- 9.9 Both the Force and the Commissioners' office maintain a presence in schemes led by the Police ICT Company and other national procurement schemes to ensure the benefit from any contractual arrangements negotiated on behalf of the sector are realised.
- 9.10 The Commissioner will continue to use the opportunities available from holding capital receipts to release and invest in new ways of delivering services, whilst avoiding being reliant on them as an ongoing source of funding.

10 RESERVES:

10.1 CIPFA guidance indicates that a well-managed entity with a prudent approach to budgeting should be able to operate with a relatively low level of general reserves and that Chief Financial Officers should take account of the strategic, operational and financial risks facing the organisation.

Table 8: Reserves Forecast

	2018/19	2019/20	2020/21	2021/22
Police Incidents – 2% of base	Closing 2,857	Closing 3,821	Closing 3,875	Estimate 4,375
Police unfunded pay increase	2,007	5,021	3,075	4,575
General Reserves	2,857	3,821	3,875	4,375
Transformation costs	2,060	2,060	2,060	2,060
Commissioner's Development Fund			1,000	1,000
Restructuring costs	3,189	689	689	689
Earmarked Reserves	5,249	2,749	3,749	3,749
Insurance Provision	-	100	200	300
LGPS and other Pension Provisions	-	-	-	-
Other provisions	-	-	-	-
Provisions	-	100	200	300
Other earmarked reserves for specific purposes	1,005	1,055	1,105	1,155
TOTALS	9,111	7,725	8,929	9,579

- 10.2 The Commissioner has a Reserves Strategy that is based on safe, but minimal reserve levels, on the basis that he would not wish to hold more public money than is necessary as a set aside for a rainy day. In 2017/18 those reserves were used to support the service at a level beyond what was planned, as a result of slippage in the capital receipts programme; given this position there will be a focus on rebuilding resilience through reserves.
- 10.3 The Commissioner also feels that in the context of rising demand and significant risks in policing as a service, there is a need to build greater resilience in all of the reserves that are held. In setting the reserves strategy and in signing off the accounts for last year it was recognised that the enhancement of reserve levels would be allowed for within the MTFS from 2018/19 onwards.
- 10.4 In Staffordshire reserves are not held to cover items which may be held by other

Commissioners such as capital expenditure, unfunded pay increases and any other provisions. However, the replenishment of earmarked reserves and provisions protects against specific costs being incurred e.g. restructuring costs. There remains however, the risk that given the relatively low level of general reserve, government funding policy, or emergency expenditure could have a severe impact. Addressing this issue is of primary importance to the Commissioner and the Chief Constable.

10.5 The Commissioner is welcoming of a conversation around the use of reserves and the establishment of a specific reserve for the Chief and or Directorates to encourage good planning capacity for the Force. This will be discussed as part of the conversation around Financial Regulations and delegations in the New Year subject to improvements in the financial management landscape in the Force.

11 CAPITAL FUNDING:

- 11.1 For many years the capital programme has been estimated based on need; given the overall financial position a stronger link between revenue capacity to repay borrowing, and capital requirement is in place.
- 11.2 In the forthcoming MTFS capital expenditure will be limited to the highest priorities; the revenue assumptions identified in table 3 assume that the capital programme has been limited in this way.
- 11.3 The Commissioner has set the maximum long term loan /net budget requirement at 44% in 2019/20 falling to 40% by 2021/22 which also allows target interest payments to stay below 1.5% of net budget requirement.

Table 9	9 Capital	Funding	Targets
---------	-----------	---------	---------

Capital Funding	2018/19 Proposed	2019/20 Proposed	2020/21 Proposed	2021/22 Proposed
Long term Loan to Net Budget Requirement before reduction	32%	46%	47%	44%
Long term Loan to Net Budget Requirement after reduction	32%	44%	43%	40%
Interest as a percentage of Net Budget Requirement before reduction	1.3%	1.4%	1.6%	1.7%
Interest as a percentage of Net Budget Requirement after reduction	1.3%	1.3%	1.4%	1.5%
Reduction in unsupported capital programme	-	-3,511,055	- 4,615,723	-

11.4 If the capital programme is limited as in table 9 then the current prudential indicators for borrowing will be met, as detailed in table 10.

Table 10 Prudential Indicators Update

	Proposed £000	Proposed £000	Proposed £000	Proposed £000
Debt Outstanding 1 April	60,050	69,635	82,959	81,959
New Borrowing	10,835	15,324	-	-
Repayment	(1,250)	(2,000)	(1,000)	(3,600)
Debt carried forward	69,635	82,959	81,959	78,359
Current Prudential Indicators	76,100	84,500	93,700	93,700
Within (Outside) Indicators	6,465	1,541	11,741	15,341

11.5 Table 11 provides the updated capital funding plan incorporating the use of a restructuring reserve created from capital receipts and in future years the reintroduction of a limited revenue contribution to capital outlay (RCCO).

Table 11 Capital Funding Update

Capital Funding	2018/19	2019/20	2020/21	2021/22
	Forecast £000	Proposed £000	Estimate £000	Estimate £000
Basic Grant funding from government	683	683	683	683
External Grant (ESN)	331	-	-	-
Funding From Receipts	5,526	567	567	567
Funding from Restructuring Reserve		5,225		
Funding from RCCO			250	250
Borrowing Requirement	10,835	15,324	-	-
Funded	17,375	21,799	1,500	1,500

11.6 There are detailed plans to realise £18.561m from capital receipts over the course of the MTFS period. £12.001m have been received to date in 2018/19 and the remaining 10 sites have been agreed for disposal with the Chief Constable. Of those sites some will be put to market this autumn with the remaining sites going on sale or being sold to public sector partners from April 2019.

		RECEIPTS		
	Sale Price	Cost of sale	Usable Funds	
	£000	£000	£000	
Receipts				
Lichfield Police Station	1,700	68	1,632	
Ex Headquarters	10,301	412	9,889	
	12,001	480	11,521	
Funding				
Transformation			1,556	
Fire / Police governance			59	
SP25 support to capital				
projects			500	
Create usable reserve			2,045	
Restructuring Reserve			3,189	
Capital programme 2018/19			4,172	
Capital programme 2019/20				
			11,521	

11.7 The first call on capital receipts is to fund their replacement or other capital investment. In the ordinary course of events, spend on business change and transformation support cannot be capitalised. The Secretary of State's capitalisation directive does not of course change this, however, the Commissioner intends to use the facility allowed to apply capital receipts to pay for Transformation spend. In doing so, this protects revenue reserves from the uneven impact of spend created by a transformation programme and uses the flexibility available to the full to relieve this and future years' revenue budgets.